047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
NOV 6 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT,
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 78,242

vs.

TFB File No. 91-00084-02

GEORGE HARROLD CARSWELL, JR.,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF

JAMES N. WATSON, JR.
Bar Counsel, The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
Attorney Number 0144587

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, The Florida Bar, will be referred to as such, or as the Bar throughout the brief. Respondent, George Harrold Carswell, Jr., will be referred to as the Respondent.

References to the Report of Referee shall be by the symbol RR followed by the appropriate page number.

References to the hearings before the Referee on July 22, 1992 shall be by the symbol TR, followed by the appropriate page number.

References to the exhibits shall be as follows: EX 1, the tape recorded conversation between Respondent and Mike Matthews.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 8, 1991, The Florida Bar filed a complaint against George Harrold Carswell, Jr., and on August 5, 1991, the Chief Justice appointed the Honorable John P. Kuder, Circuit Judge, First Judicial Circuit, as Referee in this case. The final hearing was held on July 22, 1992 and the Report of Referee was filed on July 28, 1992.

The Report of Referee recommends that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for ninety (90) days with automatic reinstatement at the end of the suspension period, and that Respondent shall assume all taxable costs incurred in accordance with the Statement of Costs associated with this case.

On October 8, 1992, The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review seeking review of the recommended discipline of the Report of Referee.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts of this case are undisputed pursuant to the Stipulation to Facts, as accepted by the Referee and incorporated in his report as the basis for his recommendation. (RR, p. 1).

At all times relevant to the complaint in this matter, Respondent was a member of The Florida Bar, subject to the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida.

During 1988, Respondent was a candidate in the election for county judge of Jefferson County, Florida. In October 1988, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) began an investigation into possible voter registration violations involving the aforementioned election.

Prior to the election investigation, Respondent approached Mike Matthews, a resident of Jefferson County, about registering to vote in the election for county judge. The Respondent met Mike Matthews at his place of employment, the Big Bend Truck Stop, with a blank registration form, completed the form for him and had him sign it.

Subsequent to this, Respondent turned in Mike Matthews' completed form to Deputy Supervisor of Elections, Isreal Lawrence, at Lawrence's Grocery Store in Lloyd, Florida. Upon receipt of Mike Matthews' registration form, Deputy Supervisor Lawrence processed the form and swore and subscribed that Matthews had signed the form in his presence at his designated place of registration.

Florida Statutes §98.111(2) provides that the Supervisor of Elections is required to provide certain information required by the law on the registration forms at the time the form is being processed. Florida Statutes, §98.111(3) provides that the applicant of a voter registration form swear to the form's information being true before the supervisor of elections or deputy supervisor and that the elector's signature on the affidavit be attested to by the administering official. In the instance of Mike Matthews' registration, the administering official was shown to be deputy supervisor Isreal Lawrence.

Shortly after learning of the FDLE investigation,
Respondent received three messages indicating that Mike
Matthews was telephoning him. Respondent or somebody acting on
his behalf returned the third telephone call to Matthews and
made arrangements for a meeting between Matthews and Respondent
at the Matthews' household.

On November 7, 1988, Respondent visited Mike Matthews at his home and instructed Matthews to misrepresent to FDLE the circumstances surrounding the filling out of his voter registration form. Respondent instructed Matthews to lie to anyone from FDLE by telling them that he had registered to vote at the grocery store of Isreal Lawrence when, in fact, he had not. Respondent instructed Matthews to tell FDLE that the Respondent's only part in registering Matthews was to give him a ride to Isreal Lawrence's store.

Additionally, Respondent informed Mike Matthews that they (Respondent and Matthews) were the only two people who knew what had really occurred, and that unless Matthews adhered to Respondent's false account, he would allege to FDLE that Matthews was lying.

During Respondent's conversation with Matthews, Matthews was wearing a police body transmitter, and the conversation was recorded by the police. Exhibit A contains an accurate transcript of the conversation.

Based upon his conversation with Mike Matthews, Respondent was charged with the misdemeanor of tampering with a witness, in violation of Florida Statutes §914.22(2)(a). Respondent pled nolo contendere to the charge. An adjudication of guilt was withheld and Respondent paid a fifty dollar (\$50.00) fine.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Bar submits that, based upon the undisputed facts and the admission of misconduct by the Respondent, that the recommendation as to discipline by the Referee is inappropriate in view of the nature of the misconduct and similar case law. A more appropriate discipline would be a period of rehabilitative suspension of one (1) year.

ARGUMENT

THE RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE IS INAPPROPRIATE BASED UPON THE FACTUAL BASIS OF THE ADMITTED MISCONDUCT

The Respondent was charged with the misdemeanor of tampering with a witness as the result of misconduct committed during his campaign for election as county judge of Jefferson County, Florida in 1988.

During the election campaign, Respondent had registered a voter named Mike Matthews, contrary to the statutory requirements for such a procedure. Specifically, Respondent had Mike Matthews sign a registration form outside the presence of a deputy registrar and later had the form notarized by a deputy registrar that stated the form had been executed in his presence.

Prior to the election, Respondent learned of an official Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) investigation into voter registration irregularities. After receiving a telephone call from Mike Matthews regarding the investigation and possible contact by FDLE, Respondent arranged for a visit with Matthews at Matthews' home.

As shown in the FDLE transcript from the intercepted conversation between Respondent and Mike Matthews (EX 1) on November 7, 1988, Respondent counseled Mike Matthews to lie to FDLE investigators regarding the facts surrounding Matthews' voter registration. On nine separate occasions, Respondent

counseled Mike Matthews to relate facts that were contradictory to the actual events surrounding Matthews' registration. (EX 1, pp. 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7).

To enforce the request of Respondent for Matthews to lie to FDLE, Respondent told Matthews that Respondent would tell FDLE that Matthews was lying if he told FDLE anything different than what Respondent was counseling Matthews to say. (EX 1, pp. 4, 7).

A review of the transcript shows not only was Respondent asking Mike Matthews to lie about what really happened regarding this voter registration, but was actively counseling Matthews on just exactly what he needed to say to bring the questioned registration into the permissible parameters that would allow the registration to remain valid and allow Matthews to vote.

At the final hearing before the Referee, Respondent's counsel acknowledged that the cited rules of misconduct in the Bar's complaint were well pled (TR p. 7). Subsequently, the Referee entered a report recommending Respondent be found guilty of the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar: Rule 3-4.3 (the commission by a lawyer of any act which is unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice), of the Rules of Discipline of The Florida Bar; Rules 4-8.4(b) (a lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects), 4-8.4(c) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or

misrepresentation), and 4-8.4(d) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice), of the Rules of Professional Conduct of The Florida Bar.

After finding Respondent guilty of the ethical misconduct on all the violations cited in the complaint, the Referee recommended that Respondent be suspended for ninety (90) days with automatic reinstatement. The Florida Bar takes exception to the recommended discipline and would ask that Respondent receive a more severe sanction of a period of rehabilitative discipline for a period of one (1) year.

In prior cases of similar misconduct, this Court has imposed sanctions that vary according to the attorney's culpability and the presence of mitigating factors.

In <u>Dodd v. The Florida Bar</u>, 118 So. 2d. 17 (Fla. 1960), this Court held that urging and advising several persons to give false testimony warrants disbarment. The attorney in <u>Dodd</u> had counseled several persons, including clients, to give false testimony in personal injury actions.

In affirming the order of disbarment in <u>Dodd</u>, the Court held that no breach of professional ethics, or of the law, is more harmful to the administration of justice or more harmful to the public appraisal of the legal profession than the knowledgeable use by an attorney of false testimony in the judicial process. When it is done, it deserves the harshest penalty. Dodd at p. 19.

The Court disbarred the attorney in <u>Dodd</u> despite the fact that there was no history of prior discipline and that the attorney argued that he had already been punished and discredited through the wide publication of the case.

Although Respondent herein was not counseling a client to lie in an ongoing court case, Respondent was urging a witness in a criminal investigation to lie and misrepresent pertinent facts to FDLE so as to thwart the investigation and prevent his being prosecuted. Such actions by Respondent are clearly analogous to the holding in <u>Dodd</u> and support a penalty more severe than recommended by the Referee.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Agar</u>, 394 So. 2d. 405 (Fla. 1980), this Court disbarred an attorney who was found guilty of arranging a witness to testify falsely before a court, calling a witness who he had good reason to know would falsely testify and failing to notify the Court of such false testimony.

In Agar, the referee recommended a four month suspension. In rejecting the referee's recommendation, the Court stated it had not changed its position since <u>Dodd</u>, 118 So. 2d. 17 (Fla. 1960) and disbarred the attorney. The Court also stated that the general rule is strict discipline against deliberate, knowing elicitation or concealment of false testimony.

While the Respondent herein counseled the witness to lie to a law enforcement agency, rather than to a court, the Bar would argue that the ultimate act of misconduct is the counseling of anyone to lie to prevent the finding of the ultimate truth and not where or how the lie is ultimately disseminated.

In the matter of <u>The Florida Bar v. Lancaster</u>, 448 So.

2d. 1019 (1984), this Court addressed the problem of a lawyer trying to influence a potential witness not to testify at the lawyer's trial. The attorney, Lancaster, lied to the State Attorney's office in their investigation into the altered registration number of a boat. Lancaster also conspired with another person to maintain false stories regarding the property and discussed the need to keep the seller of the boat from coming to Florida to testify against Lancaster.

In his defense, Lancaster testified that he was an active member of The Florida Bar and had no prior disciplinary record.

While rejecting the referee's recommendation of disbarment, the Court found that the conduct of Lancaster failed to conform to the ethical standards binding on all attorneys. Citing Lancaster's previous lack of discipline and involvement in community affairs, the Court suspended Lancaster for two (2) years. Lancaster, at p. 1023.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lopez</u>, 406 So. 2d. 1100 (Fla. 1981) the Court held that urging parties or witnesses to testify under oath to matters which an attorney knows to be false warrants a one-year suspension.

In <u>Lopez</u>, the attorney offered to release several defendant parties if they were to change their testimony so as to favor Lopez's claim.

Rejecting the referee's recommendation of a three month suspension, the Court held that such a recommendation was insufficient to impress on the Respondent, the Bar, and the public, our dissatisfaction with and distress over the attorney's conduct. <u>Lopez</u>, at p. 1102. The Court ordered Lopez suspended for a period of one (1) year.

The Court, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Meyer</u>, 529 So. 2d. 1098 (Fla. 1988) accepted the resignation of an attorney as the appropriate sanction where the attorney was found guilty of the criminal charges of witness tampering and conspiracy to commit witness tampering.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Rood</u>, 569 So. 2d. 750 (Fla. 1990), the Court suspended attorney Rood for one (1) year when Rood concealed an expert's memorandum and caused his clients to sign false answers to discovery under oath. In disciplining Rood, the Court found such misconduct "is serious and reprehensible, but it does not merit the extreme sanction of disbarment."

Rood, at p. 753.

Reviewing the appropriate provisions of Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, it appears the following sections are applicable to the matter before the Court:

^{5.11(}f) - Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer engages in any other intentional conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice.

^{5.12 -} Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in criminal conduct which is not included within

Standard 5.11 and that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice.

- 7.1 Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional with the intent to obtain a benefit for the lawyer or another, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.
- 7.2 Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.

The Report of Referee herein has cited several mitigating factors that the Court has previously recognized as meriting consideration in determining appropriate discipline. These being a lack of prior discipline; cooperation with the Bar; remorse; and a good reputation in his community.

While the above cited factors are recognized as mitigation as to discipline, they cannot take away from the seriousness of the misconduct committed by Respondent. Respondent had taken an oath upon becoming a member of the Bar that he would maintain the integrity of the Bar and would always handle himself in a truthful manner.

Respondent herein chose voluntarily to seek an elected judicial position and sought to have himself elected by his community. In seeking this personal goal, he freely and willingly chose to violate the statutory laws of his state and disregarded the oath and ethical requirements of the profession that had afforded him the opportunity to run for a judgeship.

This Court has consistently held that the appropriateness of discipline must meet a three prong test. The discipline

must be just to the public, fair to the attorney, and deter other attorneys from misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 23 So. 2d. 130 (Fla. 1970).

The Bar feels that a ninety (90) day suspension as recommended by the Referee herein falls short of the test of Pahules.

In <u>Lopez</u>, 406 So. 2d. 1100 (Fla. 1981), this Court found that a three month suspension for similar misconduct was insufficient to impress upon the attorney, the Bar and the public the Court's dissatisfaction with such conduct.

To allow an attorney to be suspended for a period of only ninety (90) days for actively counseling someone to lie for the sole benefit of the attorney would not be just to the public's interest in maintaining their belief in the integrity of the Bar or be sufficient to deter other attorneys from similar misconduct.

In <u>Lancaster</u>, 448 So. 2d. 1019 (Fla. 1984), Justice Ehrlich wrote that our profession can operate properly only if its individual members conform to the highest standards of integrity in all dealings within the legal system.

<u>Lancaster</u>, at p. 1024.

In the cited case authority herein, it is clear that the conduct engaged in by Respondent is uniformly held to be reprehensible. Even in light of mitigation and an absence of disciplinary histories, this Court has generally held that the appropriate discipline is a term of rehabilitative suspension. It is the position of the Bar that the recommendation of the

Referee of a ninety (90) day suspension be rejected as inappropriate and that Respondent be suspended for a period of one (1) year.

CONCLUSION

The Referee's recommended discipline of a ninety (90) day suspension is inappropriate. In light of the reprehensible nature of Respondent's misconduct, the appropriate discipline should be a one year suspension.