79

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED 3/3/

MAR 1/6 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v

CASE NUMBER 78,242

GEORGE H. CARSWELL, JR.,
Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

John A. Weiss Attorney Number 0185229 P. O. Box 1167 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1167 (904) 681-9010 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee's recommendation that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for 90 days is afforded a presumption of correctness and should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence. In fact, the evidence before the referee shows beyond question that a suspension not requiring proof of rehabilitation is the appropriate discipline for this case.

Respondent's misconduct was an isolated incident that occurred the day before the election in a hotly judicial race. Respondent was under incredible pressure and was exhausted. His conduct was completely out of character and was an aberration in an otherwise exemplary career.

Respondent's character witnesses, including two sitting and one retired circuit judge, the sheriff of his county, the state attorney for his judicial circuit, the editor of his newspaper, the clerk of court, a local lawyer and a former client, all attested to Respondent's excellent reputation for honesty in the community. They all testified that he is still held in high regard by his community and that all believe that his conduct was completely out of character and a one-time incident.

The witnesses also testified that Respondent has been a pillar in his community. He has donated free legal services to the citizens of the county, has provided free housing for the needy of Jefferson County and has actively participated in numerous community organizations in an attempt to raise money for charitable causes.

The mitigating factors, when coupled with Respondent's remorse, cooperation with the Bar and his prior clean record, all point towards a short-term suspension.

There are numerous instances of lawyers engaging in conduct similar to Respondent's who have received suspensions of 90 days orless. The cases relied upon by the Bar involve conduct far more serious and, accordingly, those cases should be disregarded.

Because there is no showing that Respondent poses a future risk to the public, there is no need to make him prove rehabilitation before reinstatement from a suspension. The referee's recommendation is imminently correct.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD UPHOLD THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT BE SUSPENDED FOR 90 DAYS FOR HIS ONE-TIME SPONTANEOUS MISCONDUCT IN LIGHT OF THE NUMEROUS ELEMENTS OF MITIGATION AND THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT PROOF OF REHABILITATION NOT BE REQUIRED PRIOR TO REINSTATEMENT.

On November 7, 1988, the day before the election of an incredibly hotly contested race, Respondent made the most grievous mistake of his life. He counseled a prospective witness in a criminal investigation to lie. Respondent's misconduct is beyond dispute and he sincerely regrets his actions.

While Respondent acknowledges the propriety of discipline, he disputes the necessity of a suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation for his single act of misconduct; one that occurred almost four and one half years ago.

In <u>DeBock v State</u>, 512 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1987) at page 166 this Court noted that disciplinary proceedings "are designed for the protection of the public and the integrity of the courts." Representatives of both the public and the court appeared before the referee in these proceedings and expressed confidence in Respondent's integrity notwithstanding his misconduct. These representatives, including two sitting circuit judges and one retired judge, the state attorney, the sheriff, the clerk of court, and the editor of the local newspaper, basically stated that they do not feel that they need to be protected from George Carswell.

There can be no doubt that the representatives of the bench and the public that appeared before the referee agree

wholeheartedly with his observations that Respondent's conduct constituted "a one time departure from what has otherwise been demonstrated to be a career of exemplary professional conduct." (Judge Reynolds, TR 16; Judge Sauls, TR 23; Sheriff Fortune, TR 27; State Attorney Meggs, TR 43; retired customs agent Dukes, TR 59; and editor Cichon, TR 73,74.)

When the Court, in a case such as this, is faced with misconduct that is clearly a single instance in an otherwise exemplary career, the necessity of a severe sanction to protect the public is materially lessened. See, for example, The Florida Bar v Childers, 582 So.2d 617, 618 (Fla. 1991). There, a lawyer was suspended for only 90 days for misappropriating \$950.00 from her firm because

Her action in this instance [was] totally out of character and a one-time unexplainable aberration.

As was true with Ms. Childers, Respondent's conduct in the case at Bar was a one-time aberration. Unlike Ms. Childers, however, there is an explanation (not an excuse) for Respondent's conduct. He was at the end of an exhausting, incredibly heated political campaign that was as close as any race could be. In fact, it was decided by 45 votes out of about 5,030 votes cast. TR 92.

Respondent, to his credit, did not blame his misconduct on the pressure of the campaign. In fact, he specifically stated to the referee

I'm not excusing it just from the campaign. I was wrong. It was a terrible mistake and I regret it. TR 106.

During cross examination, when asked if he felt the pressure of the campaign justified his actions, Respondent stated

I think that's horrible. I can't believe I did it. TR 118.

Respondent went on to say, regarding the pressure of the campaign

I don't think it excuses that behavior. I think it may explain and I'm not sure it explains it, because it doesn't necessarily to my satisfaction explain it, but I know I've never had that occur in my life before. TR 119.

When a lawyer of impeccable credentials, for the first time in his life, acts completely out of character and engages in misconduct, the reason for the misconduct is essential to the analysis of the sanction to be meted out. If the reason for the misconduct can be ascertained, the likelihood of it not being repeated is easier to predict. In the case at Bar, there is a reason, not an excuse, for Respondent's misconduct -- the exhaustion and pressure of the campaign. That situation is not likely to arise again and accordingly, there is no likelihood of the misconduct being repeated.

The atmosphere of the campaign must be comprehended to understand why Respondent acted so out of character. As Respondent described it,

We operated a war zone for two months. I mean, I got caught up in it. TR 115.

Lest this Court think Respondent's testimony regarding the intensity of the campaign was self-serving, it only has to look at

the testimony of other witnesses to glean the intensity of the judicial campaign. Judge Reynolds, for example, observed

I can tell you from my experience and just having been in a number of elections, I noticed the date was November 7 and that had to be very close to the election day, you get very emotional. It is very -- it's the most civilized form of warfare that there probably is and I can understand that after having read all of that, how a person might panic and do something that's very dumb and do something that's against all of what lawyers should do and that is to advise somebody not to tell the truth and that is highly out of character for George, and I have never seen any other evidence or known of any other instance where he has conducted himself in such a fashion. TR 14.

State Attorney Willie Meggs alluded to the nature of the campaign when asked if Mr. Carswell's plea to witness tampering diminished his opinion of Mr. Carswell's integrity or moral character. He responded

No sir. That's troublesome, but you know, the politics in a small county gets somewhat out of control sometimes. And the heat of the situation, I think, probably contributed more to it than George being a bad person who was trying to do something wrong. TR 43.

Retired Judge Cooksey continued the analogy to warfare when he testified. In response to cross examination by Bar Counsel, Judge Cooksey said

Mr. Watson, it is hard for somebody that's never been in a heated political campaign, it is really a war between George and Judge Johnston -- to appreciate the kind of battle you get in that sort of situation. I think in that situation and I'm, as I say, I've been in a -- I'm not going to say the situation that he's been in, but I have been in a couple of pretty good political campaigns. I think opponents are subject to saying things that in

the heat of battle they wouldn't otherwise say. That's not necessarily to say that, you know they should have said them at the time, but I think it's done. TR 52.

Editor Cichon that the Carswell/Johnston judicial campaign was very hotly contested. TR 70. However, he also pointed out that the Carswell candidacy ran a very good campaign despite its being "very tense, personal...." TR 73.

If the subject of disciplinary proceedings has the trust of the bench and the public, and Respondent surely does, and if all concerned, including the referee, believe that Respondent's misconduct was a one-time occurrence that is not likely to be repeated, there is no necessity to impose a discipline requiring proof of rehabilitation before reinstatement. In other words, a suspension of 90 days or less is appropriate. That is precisely what the referee recommended.

The three purposes of discipline were set forth in <u>The Florida</u>

<u>Bar v Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1970) at page 132. There, the

Court stated that

In cases such as these, three purposes must be kept in mind in reaching our conclusions. First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations.

In addition to the <u>Pahules</u> criteria, this Court must bear in mind its pronouncements in <u>DeBock v State</u>, <u>supra</u>, that the purpose of discipline is not punitive but is remedial. <u>DeBock</u>, <u>supra</u>, p. 166.

Respondent submits that the 90 suspension recommended by the referee is the appropriate remedial discipline for his misconduct. Any suspension longer than that, i.e., one requiring proof of rehabilitation, stresses the punitive aspect of discipline in completely disregard of the protection of the public aspect of Pahules.

The <u>Childers</u> case, cited above, is an example of an appropriate sanction for an isolated act of misconduct. Ms. Childers misappropriated \$950.00 belonging to a law firm. She acted, basically, on impulse. So did the Respondent. As is true in the case at Bar, the referee had recommended a suspension of 90 days and the Bar appealed the referee's recommendation.

A referee's recommended discipline, while subject to a scope of review broader than that afforded to his findings of fact, is still cloaked with a presumption of correctness. It will not be overturned unless his recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence. The Florida Bar v Poplack, 599 So.2d 116, 118 (Fla. 1992).

The <u>Poplack</u> decision, cited above, is a perfect example of a limited, though stern, sanction for an isolated event. Mr. Poplack in May 1989, lied to a police officer during an investigation involving a possible car theft. Mr. Poplack told the police

officer that the car in question belonged to a friend. Later, after being arrested, Mr. Poplack changed his story and indicated that he was pulling a practical joke on a friend. (Ultimately it was adduced that the owner of the car did not even know Mr. Poplack or the other individual charged with the theft).

At final hearing, numerous witnesses portrayed Mr. Poplack as

An honest, hard-working young man who had suffered from the dissolution of his marriage. The witnesses held the general view that Poplack had overcome the adverse emotional effects of his marital dissolution. <u>Id</u>. 117.

Interestingly enough, Mr. Poplack did not testify at his final hearing and he did not personally express any remorse about his actions.

Notwithstanding the fact that Mr. Poplack lied to a police officer on two separate occasions, and that he may have been involved in an attempted car theft, this Court affirmed the referee's recommendation that he be suspended from the practice of law for 30 days. The Court also ordered eighteen months probation during which time Mr. Poplack should receive psychological counseling.

Ms. Childers and Mr. Poplack and the Respondent at Bar have all engaged in a single act of misconduct totally out of character. The former two lawyers received suspensions of 90 days and 30 days respectively and the referee in the case at Bar has recommended a 90 day suspension. His recommendation is entirely in line with past precedent, is not clearly erroneous and is certainly supported by substantial evidence. It should be upheld.

Other cases analogous to the case at Bar show that the referee's recommendation is sound. For example, in The Florida Bar v Simons, 391 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1980) a lawyer was suspended for three months for recommendeding to four people that they lie under oath during an investigation and for himself submitting an affidavit that was misleading. In The Florida Bar v Oxner, 431 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983) a lawyer was given a 60 day suspension for lying to a trial judge in order to obtain a continuance. Another case involving a lack of candor was The Florida Bar v Rose, 607 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1992) in which a lawyer received a 30 day suspension for forging his ex-wife's name on stock certificates and on \$77,000.00 worth of checks in contravention of court orders. Finally, Walter Bell received a public reprimand for falsely acknowledging and witnessing a deed and two other documents. The Florida Bar v Bell, 493 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1986).

The foregoing cases all involve lawyers who engaged in isolated incidents of misconduct involving dishonesty ormisrepresentation and who received suspensions of 90 days or less. None of these lawyers had to prove rehabilitation before reinstatement.

The Bar, in seeking a one year suspension would have this Court discipline Respondent far more harshly than sanctions imposed on other lawyers for engaging in more serious misconduct. For example, in The Florida Bar v Kirtz, 445 So.2d 576 (Fla. 1984) the lawyer received a four month suspension for charging and collecting a clearly excessive fee, for neglect, and for suggesting to a

client in a worker's compensation case that the client go out and deliberately strain his back so as to exaggerate his injury. In The Florida Bar v Shupack, 523 So.2d 1139 (Fla. 1988), a lawyer received but a 91 day suspension for fraudulently recording a purchaser's mortgage before the seller's mortgage. Despite the fact that he defrauded the seller and falsified documentary stamps, Mr. Shupack received far less than the one year suspension that The Florida Bar is seeking in the instant case.

In <u>The Florida Bar v Colclough</u>, 561 So.2d 1147 (Fla. 1990) the respondent lawyer received a six month suspension for making numerous misrepresentations during litigation to a judge and to adverse counsel. Specifically, Mr. Colclough lied when he hold adverse counsel and a judge that a hearing on costs to be awarded to him had already been held and that a judgment had already been entered. Mr. Colclough's case differs from Respondent's in that his conduct was not a spur of the moment act but was one that was planned and executed over a period of time.

Finally, The Florida Bar would have Respondent in the case at Bar suspended for the same length of time as the suspension imposed in The Florida Bar v Broida, 574 So.2d 83 (Fla. 1991). There, Ms. Broida was suspended for a course of conduct involving numerous instances of misrepresenting facts to the Court, engaging in exparte communications with judges for filing frivolous claims and for personally attacking the integrity of the lawyers against her and the judges before whom she appeared. Ms. Broida's conduct is far, far worse than that before the Court. Yet, The Florida Bar

would have Respondent suspended for the same amount of time as was Ms. Broida.

The cases cited by The Florida Bar in support of discipline it is recommending are easily distinguished. For example, in Dodd v The Florida Bar, 118 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1960) the lawyer was disbarred for urging several persons, including clients, to lie during two different personal injury actions. Similarly, in The Florida Bar v Agar, 394 So.2d 405 (Fla. 1980) the accused lawyer knowingly perpetrated a fraud upon the Court by allowing a client to testify falsely. Ultimately, Mr. Agar pled nolo to the misdemeanor offense of solicitation to commit perjury. (As to Mr. Agar, while it is true that the aforementioned discipline was his first brush with The Florida Bar, he had substantial problems being admitted to The Florida Bar. In re The Florida Board of Bar Examiners v Agar, 283 So.2d 361 (Fla. 1973). There, the Supreme Court temporarily denied Mr. Agar's admission until such time as he complied with the rules regulating his admission to practice.)

In <u>The Florida Bar v Lancaster</u>, 448 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1984), a lawyer was suspended for two years for numerous acts of misconduct. Among them were his nolo pleas to the misdemeanors of altering identification on a boat, his improperly trying to influence a witness not to appear at his trial, his lying to law enforcement authorities and his lack of candor before the court. Mr. Lancaster engaged in a long-standing course of conduct with repeated instances of deception. His misconduct is so far removed from the misconduct before the Court in the instant case that it

is of no persuasive force whatsoever.

Although the Bar correctly points out that Bernt Meyer was allowed to resign after a conviction of witness tampering and conspiracy to commit witness tampering, The Florida Bar v Meyer, 529 So.2d 1098 (Fla. 1988), it must be pointed that Mr. Meyer had a long history of disciplinary problems with The Florida Bar. In 1967 Respondent received a 30 days suspension after his conviction for making a false statement to a governmental agency. The Florida Bar v Meyer, 194 So.2d 255 (Fla. 1967). In 1985, he received a 17 month suspension, to run concurrently with his automatic three year felony suspension for failing to candidly advise The Florida Bar of a prior felony conviction at the time he sought reinstatement for a dues delinquency. The Florida Bar v Meyer, 472 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1985). It is no wonder, in light of his prior disciplinary history, that Mr. Meyer chose to resign from The Florida Bar rather than awaiting the outcome of disciplinary proceedings. importantly, however, is the fact that Mr. Meyer neither had a onetime isolated incident of misconduct nor was he possessed of a clean disciplinary history.

The Bar urges this Court to suspend Respondent for the same amount of time that the lawyers were suspended for in The Florida Bar v Rood, 569 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1990) and in The Florida Bar v Lopez, 406 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 1982). Neither Mr. Rood nor Mr. Lopez was guilty of a spontaneous, isolated instance of misconduct. Mr. Rood participated in an extended course of conduct involving falsifying an expert's memorandum and causing his client to sign

false answers under oath. He did so for a monetary gain. On page 752 of the Court's opinion, it is pointed out that there were five fraudulent acts committed by Mr. Rood over a long period of time.

In <u>Lopez</u>, the lawyer was suspended for one year after urging numerous witnesses and or parties to lie under oath. Once again, a course of conduct was involved.

In Section IV of his report, the referee listed the mitigating circumstances involved in the case at Bar. In so doing, he specifically referred to the Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and alluded to the mitigating factors listed in Standard 9.32. Among those factors are: (a) an absence of a prior disciplinary record; (e) full and free disclosure to disciplinary board or cooperative attitude toward proceedings; (g) Respondent's good character and sterling reputation in the community; and (1) Respondent's remorseful attitude.

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